RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2013-000430-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

PATRICK I. HOGAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

NICHOLAS J. PASSE State Bar No. 1061509

Moen Sheehan Meyer, Ltd. 201 Main Street, Suite 700 Post Office Box 786 La Crosse, WI 54602-0786 (608)784-8310 npasse@msm-law.com

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did Grant County Sheriff's Deputy Andrew Smith have reasonable suspicion to extend Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner Patrick Hogan's traffic stop into a criminal investigation based on Hogan's physical appearance/actions?

The Circuit Court and Court of Appeals: NO.

II. Was Hogan constructively seized at the time he gave Deputy Smith consent to search his truck according to the motorist seizure test in *State v. Williams?*

The Circuit Court and Court of Appeals: NO.

III. Even assuming Hogan was not constructively seized, did Deputy Smith's violation of Hogan's 4th Amendment rights impermissibly taint Hogan's consent to search his truck under *State v. Phillips*?
The Circuit Court and Court of Appeals: YES.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

In a case important enough to merit this Court's review, oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner Patrick Hogan (hereinafter "Hogan") was charged with drug offenses, felon in possession of a firearm and child neglect after a traffic stop by Grant County Sheriff's Deputy Andrew Smith (hereinafter "Smith" or "Deputy Smith") turned into a criminal investigation and a search of Hogan's truck turned up methamphetamine, meth lab components and pistols. Hogan's trial-level attorney filed two Motions to Suppress the evidence obtained based on the illegality of the extension of the traffic stop. (R 5, D-App. 2-3; R 7, D-App. 4-5) That attorney also filed a Motion to Dismiss based on an argument about spoliation of evidence; Hogan did not appeal the denial of the spoliation motion. (R 6) After a motion hearing and additional briefing on the Motions to Suppress, the trial court found that that Deputy Smith did not have reasonable suspicion to extend the valid traffic stop into a criminal investigation but ruled that the evidence obtained in the search of Hogan's truck should not be suppressed because Smith had let Hogan go from the illegal detention, calling the 16 second break between when Deputy Smith released Hogan and then re-approached him "a complete disjoinder." (R 14, D-App. 000090-91, R 22:4, D-App. 000080-82) Hogan entered a plea deal resolving the charges against him and appealed the judgment of conviction on the grounds that the trial court judge erred in refusing to grant the motion to suppress.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in an unpublished opinion. State v. Hogan, 2014 WI App ____, 354 Wis. 2d 622, 848 N.W.2d 903 (Ct. App. 2014), D-App. 000093.

-2-

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Stop

On May 12, 2012, Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner Hogan was driving his pickup truck in the City of Boscobel, Grant County, Wisconsin. (R 21:2; D-App. 000007) It was a bright, sunny day. (R 22:2; R 8, D-App. 000092) At approximately 6:10 p.m., Deputy Smith observed Hogan and his passenger wife not wearing their seatbelts and pulled them over for that reason. (R 21:2, 10-11, D-App. 000008, 000016-17) A squad car video shows the stop and investigation from the front of Deputy Smith's squad car. (R 8, D-App. 000092)

Hogan's truck passed in front of Deputy Smith's squad car at approximately 00:30 in the video. Id. Deputy Smith activates his emergency lights and Hogan's truck pulls over immediately. Id. Deputy Smith approaches Hogan's truck, announces he pulled over the truck for seatbelt violations, obtains Hogan's registration and license and returns to his squad car at approximately video time 2:15. Id. Deputy Smith "felt that there was something going on", so he walked back to his squad car and called for assistance from the Boscobel Police Department. (R 21:4, D-App. 000010). At approximately the 5:00 minute mark of the video, the other officer, Boscobel Police Officer Dregne, arrives as backup. (R 8; D-App. 000092) The two talk about rumors that Hogan is a "meth cook", lack of local civilian respect for law enforcement, observations of the truck, Hogan and his wife, how soon a drug dog Deputy Smith had asked for might arrive and how smart Hogan might be about giving consent if they asked for it. This discussion lasts a bit over 9 minutes, from roughly 5:00-14:15 of the video. Id. Smith asks Hogan to step out of the truck, explains the seatbelt citation and asks him to do field sobriety tests. The two begin the SFST process at approximately 16:45 in the video and finish around 24:38.

At 24:38-24:44 of the video Deputy Smith says Hogan is free to go, tells him to take care of his windshield and to buckle up, and asks Hogan if Hogan has any questions. (R 8, D-App. 000092) Hogan walks back to his truck and Officer

-3-

Dregne and Deputy Smith meet at the driver's door area of Smith's squad car. Hogan shuts the truck door behind him at 24:57, just as Deputy Smith begins walking back toward Hogan's truck. *Id.* At 25:00, Smith says "Hey Sir, can I talk to you again?" *Id.* Smith asks for consent to search the truck and Hogan gives permission. *Id.* Smith searches Hogan until approximately 27:20 and then starts searching the truck. *Id.* He finds two pistols, methamphetamine and components for manufacturing methamphetamine in the truck. *Id.* Deputy Smith's squad car emergency lights remained lit throughout the stop. (R 21:14; D-App. 20)

B. Motions to Suppress

Hogan was charged with Possession of Methamphetamine, Manufacturing Methamphetamine, Felon in Possession of a Firearm and Child Neglect. (R 2). Hogan filed two Motions to Suppress alleging Deputy Smith lacked reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop into a criminal investigation and therefore all evidence obtained after said extension should be suppressed. (R 5, D-App. 000002-3; R 7, D-App. 000004-5)

At the motion hearing, Deputy Smith testified that when he stopped Hogan for a seatbelt violation, Hogan appeared nervous, shaking, and restricted pupils. (R 21: 2-3, D-App. 000007-8) Smith said that in his experience, restricted pupils are a sign of drug use. (R 21:3, D-App. 000008) On cross, Smith admitted Hogan's driving was not erratic and showed no signs of impairment; that Hogan pulled over right away when Smith activated his lights; that Smith never noticed any odor of intoxicants or drugs; that Smith never observed open intoxicants in the vehicle; that he did not observe any drugs or drug paraphernalia in the truck; and that Hogan did not have slurred speech, or problems balancing. (R 21:10-11, D-App. 000016-17) Smith further admitted he was not a drug recognition expert, that it was a sunny day, and that the sun could have accounted for Hogan's pupils being restricted to what Smith estimated was 3 mm. (R 21:11-12, D-App. 000017-18) Smith confirmed his emergency lights were activated throughout the stop. (R 21:12-14, D-App. 000018-19) Smith confirmed he did not observe any clues of intoxication on the SFSTs. (R 21:13, D-App. 000019) On redirect, Smith could not remember if he had received training about the significance of pupil size in the training for how to administer field sobriety tests. (R 21:22-23, D-App. 000028-29)

C. Circuit Court Ruling on Motions

After allowing some time for additional briefing by the parties, Grant County Circuit Court Judge Day issued an opinion denying the Motions. (R 22, D-App. 000078-89) First, Judge Day found Deputy Smith's statements about Hogan's pupil size to be unconvincing and insignificant in establishing reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop into an OWI investigation. (R 22:2-3, D-App. 000079-80) Deputy Smith thought Hogan's pupils looked small but it was a sunny day, there was some distance between Deputy Smith and Hogan, Deputy Smith seemed somewhat unsure in his testimony about what pupil constriction meant except he thought it was connected with cocaine and possibly other drug use. Deputy Smith conceded he was not a drug recognition expert, and Deputy Smith's delivery of his testimony was unconvincing to Judge Day. Id. This left only Deputy Smith's observation that Hogan appeared nervous to justify extending the traffic stop into an OWI investigation. Citing the cases State v. Betow, 226 Wis.2d 90, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999) and State v. Gammons, 2001 WI App 36, 241 Wis.2d 296, 625 N.W. 2d 623 (Ct. App. 2001), Judge Day held that Deputy Smith did not have enough to extend the traffic stop into the OWI investigation. (R 22:3, D-App. 000081)

Judge Day, citing the approximately 16 second gap between the release of Hogan and when Deputy Smith re-approaches Hogan to seek consent for a search of the vehicle as "a complete disjoinder as between Deputy Smith and Mr. Hogan." (R 22:4-5, D-App. 000082-83) Judge Day weighed the time between the end of illegal stop and when Deputy Smith asked for a consent search, the fact that consent was sought in a wide-open, outdoor environment, the fact that Deputy Smith was privileged to have stopped Hogan for the initial traffic stop, Deputy Smith's demeanor toward Hogan at the time he asked for consent and what Judge Day impliedly believed was a lack of flagrancy of the official misconduct. (R 22: 5-8, D-App. 000083-86) Judge Day denied the motions to suppress.

D. Court of Appeals Opinion

Hogan appealed the trial court's denial of the Motions to Suppress, arguing the taint of the illegal detention was still present at the time Hogan gave consent to search. (D-A-P Ct. App. Brief pp. 8-20) The State, in its brief, invited the Court of Appeals to analyze "whether the traffic stop was complete but not terminated, thereby invalidating any voluntary consent to search", citing *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶4, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. (P-R Ct. App. Brief pp. 3, 4-7) The State argued the case could be decided without determining if Deputy Hogan had reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop into a criminal investigation and took the unusual step of asking the Court of Appeals for leave to file a supplemental brief addressing the merits of this issue if the Court of Appeals felt it must reach that issue. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court. The court applied the motorist seizure analysis from *State v. Williams* (in ¶¶9-12 of its opinion) and the taint attenuation analysis from *State v. Phillips* (in ¶¶13-19). *State v. Hogan*, 2014 WI App ____, 354 Wis. 2d 622, 848 N.W.2d 903 (Ct. App. 2014.) The Court of Appeals analogized *Williams* to Hogan's stop and did not seem to give any weight to the approximately 15 minute illegal detention of Hogan. Nor did the Court of Appeals address the limiting language in Footnote 8 of *Williams* pointing out that the *Williams* case did *not* deal with facts involving a Fourth Amendment violation by the officers. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, n. 8, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106.

As to the *Phillips* taint attenuation analysis, the court ruled the verbal release of Hogan by Smith would have led a reasonable person in Hogan's position to have believed that he was not obligated to stay and answer additional questions by police. *Id.* ¶17, D-App. 000098. Finally, the Court of Appeals held

-6-

that Deputy Smith's violation of Hogan's rights was not conscious or flagrant, citing the exclusionary rule discussion in *Phillips*. *Id.* ¶18, D-App. 000099 *citing State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 209; 577 N.W.2d 794.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

A. Standard of Review

This case presents a mixed question of constitutional fact and is subject to a two-part standard of review. *State v. Matejka*, 2001 WI 5, ¶16, 241 Wis.2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891; *see also State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶23, 236 Wis.2d 48, 58, 613 N.W.2d 72. The trial court's findings of fact will be given deference unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* Once the historical facts have been determined, this Court applies the law as it sees it without any deference to lower courts' interpretations of the law (*de novo* interpretation and application of law.) *Id.* When the facts are undisputed, appellate courts independently review lower courts' application of constitutional principles to those facts. *State v. Hindsley*, 2000 WI App 130, ¶22, N.13, 237 Wis. 2d 358, 614 N.W.2d 48.

B. Undisputed Facts

The pertinent facts of this case have been agreed upon at the trial and appellate court levels. The disagreements between the parties focus on the significance to the different facts in running the legal analyses.

II. Notwithstanding the validity of the initial traffic stop, the extension of the stop into an OWI/drug investigation was not supported by reasonable suspicion.

Issues not argued on appeal are ordinarily deemed abandoned. *Reiman Associates, Inc. v. R/A Advertising, Inc.*, 102 Wis. 2d 305, 306 n.1, 306 N.W2d 292 (Ct. App. 1981) The State has not argued the issue of whether Hogan was illegally detained in its Court of Appeals Brief or in its Response in Opposition to Hogan's Petition for Review, but in each document they included language indicating it did not concede that Hogan was illegally detained. Hogan includes this section of argument in case the State is not deemed to have abandoned this issue and also because this Court is not obligated to accept any facts or law stipulated to by the parties if it believes the parties are mistaken.

Hogan concedes that the initial stop of his truck was supported by reasonable suspicion. The extension of the traffic stop, based on Deputy Smith's suspicion that something was going on with Hogan, was unreasonable. (R 21: 2-3, D-App. 000008-9)

Deputy Smith testified at the suppression motion hearing that he believed restricted pupils are a sign of drug use. (R 21:3, D-App. 000009) However, he also admitted Hogan's driving showed no signs of impairment; that Hogan responded appropriately to his emergency lights; that Smith never noticed any odors of intoxicants or drugs; that he didn't observe open intoxicants, drugs or paraphernalia in the truck; and that Hogan's speech was not slurred, nor did Hogan struggle with balance. (R 21:10-11, D-App. 000016-17) Smith admitted he was not a drug recognition expert, that it was a sunny day and that the sun could have accounted for Hogan's pupils being restricted. (R 21:11-12, D-App. 000017-18) Smith could not remember if he had received training about the significance of pupil size in the training for how to administer field sobriety tests. (R 21:22-23, D-App. 000028-29) Smith further confirmed that Hogan did not show any clues on the field sobriety tests. (R 21:13, D-App. 000019)

The trial court found Deputy Smith's testimony about Hogan's pupil size unconvincing and insignificant for establishing reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop into an OWI investigation. (R 22:2-3, D-App. 000080-81) Without Smith's observation being accorded any weight by the judge, all Deputy Smith had for evidence justifying extending Hogan's traffic stop into a criminal investigation was the observation that Hogan appeared nervous. "A stop and detention is constitutionally permissible if the officer has an "articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is about to commit [an offense]..." *State v. Betow*, 226 Wis.2d 90, 93-94, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999) (internal citation

omitted). However, it is common knowledge that "a suspect may be nervous simply because he has been stopped by the police." *Id.* at 96.

"The scope of the officer's inquiry, or the line of questioning, may be broadened beyond the purpose for which the person was stopped only if additional suspicious factors come to the officer's attention – keeping in mind that these factors, like the factors justifying the stop in the first place, must be "particularized" and objective."

State v. Gammons, 2001 WI App 36, 241 Wis.2d 296, 306, 625 N.W. 2d 623 (Ct. App. 2001), *quoting State v. Betow*, 226 Wis.2d 90, 94.

The Court of Appeals noted "The State does not argue that the police had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop for an OWI investigation." *State v. Hogan* n. 1, D-App. 000095-96. The Court of Appeals did not analyze the issue of whether Hogan was in fact illegally detained but tacitly accepts the idea that he was. *Hogan* ¶8, D-App. 000095-96.

Americans have a right to be secure in their persons and property against unreasonable intrusions by the government. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 4, W.S.A. Const. Art. 1, §11. The U.S. Constitution guarantees against violations of these rights by all levels of government. U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 14, *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S. Ct. 1684 (1961). To determine if an officer's extension of a traffic stop to run field sobriety tests is valid, "... [a court] must determine whether the officer discovered information subsequent to the initial traffic stop which, when combined with information already acquired, provided reasonable suspicion that [the defendant] was driving while under the influence of an intoxicant." *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 420, 659 N.W.2d 394 (Ct. Ap. 2003.) Deputy Smith, with his lack of relevant knowledge at the time of the stop, did not have this reasonable suspicion to extend the stop and therefore the detention of Hogan beyond the time necessary to issue him a warning or a seatbelt ticket was illegal.

III. Hogan was constructively seized at the time he gave consent to search his vehicle.

A. Wisconsin's motorist seizure legal analysis: State v. Williams

Our analysis of whether Hogan was seized at the time he gave consent to search his truck must begin with a look at Wisconsin's lead case for determining whether a motorist suspect was seized at the time the motorist was asked questions or for consent to search the motorist's vehicle. Lawrence Williams was the driver of a vehicle stopped for speeding. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶5, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. Williams, appearing nervous, piqued the state trooper's suspicions when he said he was driving a rental car and wasn't sure who the actual renter was. *Id.* at ¶6. A backup officer was called, with the first trooper radioing he had "a badger going" (meaning the trooper was intending to try to gain the motorists' consent to search the vehicle.) *Id.* at ¶7. The trooper ran Williams "had come up a "ten-Zero" on prior offenses", meaning caution should be used. *Id.* at ¶8. The backup officer arrived and the officers together approached Williams' car on either side. *Id.*

Williams was asked to step out of the car and come to the rear. He was told the rental agreement did not allow him to be driving. *Id.* at ¶9. Williams was given back his drivers license and rental papers and a warning citation. *Id.* . The officer said: "This is a warning for speeding, need a signature and we'll get you on your way then." *Id.* Williams signed the warning. *Id.* at ¶11. The officer gave him the citation, asked Williams if he had any questions, Williams said no and that he knew how everything worked. *Id.* The officer said "Good, we'll let you get on your way then." *Id.* They said good bye to each other and turned to walk toward their respective vehicles. *Id.* at ¶12.

After taking a couple steps away from each other, the first trooper swiveled back toward Williams and got Williams' attention. *Id.* He then asked Williams if there were any guns, knives, drugs, or large amounts of money in the car. *Id.*

-10-

Williams denied each. *Id.* The trooper then asked for permission to search the car and Williams consented. *Id.* Drugs and a pistol were found and Williams was charged. *Id.* at ¶13.

The *Williams* court began its analysis with the general rule that warrantless searches are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment pursuant to *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S. Ct. 507 (1967); *Williams* at ¶18. One exception to that general rule is if consent is voluntarily given to search. *Id., citing State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis.2d 180, 196, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998). Consent searches are not generally constitutionally suspect pursuant to *Schenckloth v. Bustamonte*, 422 U.S. 218, 222, 93 S. Ct. 2041 (1973). *Williams* at ¶19.

Williams argued that he was illegally "seized" when he gave consent to search the vehicle. *Id.* at ¶20. The court, pursuant to *U.S. v. Mendenhall*, determined whether, considering all circumstances, Williams was seized at the time he gave consent to search his vehicle. *Id.* at ¶12-¶35; *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S. Ct. 1870 (1980). The inquiry focused not on whether Williams subjectively believed he was seized but whether a reasonable person would have believed he/she was free to leave at the time. *Id.* The court noted the imprecise nature of the *Mendenhall* test, because it is designed to assess the coercive effect of police conduct, taken as a whole, rather than focus on particular details of that conduct in isolation. *Id.* at ¶23. The court then viewed the surrounding facts of Williams Stop.

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