### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### 01-15-2015

IN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT **OF WISCONSIN** 

No. 2013AP430-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICK I. HOGAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, AFFIRMING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY, CRAIG R. DAY, JUDGE.

### BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL **Attorney General** 

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

### **ARGUMENT**

This Court may affirm the court of appeals decision on alternative grounds. This Court could conclude that Deputy Smith lawfully extended the stop *and* that Hogan was not seized when he consented to the search of his vehicle. Alternatively, this Court could assume that Deputy Smith unlawfully extended the scope of the traffic stop, but conclude that Hogan was not seized when he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In the court of appeals, the State chose not to present this argument. Instead the State argued that the court of appeals need not decide if the circuit court erred in concluding that the traffic stop was unreasonably extended because any unlawful extension did not taint Hogan's consent to search. The State did so for the purpose of argument, but without concession. In doing so, the State did not abandon the argument or concede that Deputy Smith unlawfully extended the scope of the traffic stop. *See State v. Mosely*, 102 Wis. 2d 636, 667 n.19, 307 N.W.2d 200 (1981) ("As a general matter, it is true that we review decisions of the court of appeals rather than unreviewed trial court determinations. Of course we are not, however, precluded from considering any issue inhering in a case without such prior review.").

consented to the search of his vehicle *and* his consent was not tainted by the unlawful extension.

### I. This case is subject to a bifurcated standard of review.

All issues concern whether the circuit court appropriately denied Hogan's motion to suppress physical evidence discovered during the search of his vehicle. Upon review of a denial of a motion to suppress physical evidence, findings of historical fact are upheld unless found to be clearly erroneous. Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2); *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 12, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277 (citing *State v. Vorburger*, 2002 WI 105, ¶ 32, 255 Wis. 2d 537, 648 N.W.2d 829). The application of constitutional principles to those facts is reviewed de novo. *Id.* 

# II. Deputy Smith had sufficient specific and articulable facts to extend the traffic stop to investigate whether Hogan was driving with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood.

Drugged driving is prohibited by Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am),<sup>10</sup> which reads:

## 346.63 Operating under influence of intoxicant or other drug.

- (1) No person may drive or operate a motor vehicle while:
- . . . .

(am) The person has a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Wisconsin Legislature created Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am) in 2003 Wisconsin Act 97, sec. 2. The constitutionality of § 346.63(1)(am) is being challenged in *State of Wisconsin v. Michael R. Luedtke*, Appeal No. 2013AP1737-CR. Briefing in that matter is complete and this Court is scheduled to hear oral argument on February 3, 2015.

"Restricted controlled substance" is defined in Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m) as any of the following:

- (a) A controlled substance included in schedule I under ch. 961 other than a tetrahydrocannabinol.
- (b) A controlled substance analog, as defined in s. 961.01(4m), of a controlled substance described in par. (a).
- (c) Cocaine or any of its metabolites.
- (d) Methamphetamine.
- (e) Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol.

The offense of driving or operating a vehicle with a restricted controlled substance in the blood (herein after referred to as "drugged driving") does not require proof that the driver was "under the influence" of the restricted controlled substance because "[i]t is often difficult to prove that a person who has used a restricted controlled substance was 'under the influence' of that substance." Don Dyke, Wis. Legislative Council Act Memo: 2003 Wisconsin Act 97, Operating Vehicle or Going Armed With a Detectable Amount of a Restricted Controlled Substance (Dec. 16, 2003) (R-Ap. 124).<sup>11</sup>

In enacting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), the Legislature was battling a serious threat to public safety and concluded that a per se statute best served that purpose. *See State v. Smet*, 2005 WI App 263, ¶¶ 12-17, 288 Wis. 2d 525, 709 N.W.2d 474. Indeed, the danger posed by drugged driving is immense. In the United States, nearly 10 million people drove under the influence of drugs during a year's time. Tina Wescott Cafaro, *Slipping Through the Cracks: Why Can't We Stop Drugged Driving?*, 32 W. New Eng. L. Rev. 33, 35 (2010). Additionally, "20% of crashes are caused by drugged driving." *Id.* "That translates into 8,600 deaths, 580,000 injuries, and \$33 billion in property damage each year in the United States." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Also available at <a href="https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2003/related">https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2003/related</a> (follow "LC Act Memos" hyperlink; then follow "AB458: LC Act Memo" hyperlink).

This is particularly relevant to the first question before this Court: what is needed to investigate drugged driving when an officer's suspicions arise after the officer encounters a driver stopped for a minor traffic infraction? While many of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals cases addressing Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am) violations concern drivers involved in crashes or drivers exhibiting significant signs of impairment, 12 many violations of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am) do not occur under those circumstances. In some cases, the impairment is subtle or less pronounced. Unlike alcohol, the impairing effects of drugs are diverse and are not necessarily predictable or recognizable. Several factors influence the effect any particular drug has on a person's ability to drive. These factors include the dose, dosage frequency, route of administration, drug tolerance, and the combined effects of the drug with other drugs or alcohol. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Drugs and Human Performance Fact Sheets, at 4 (April 2014 (revised)) (R-Ap. 131).<sup>13</sup> Moreover, there are well over 100 enumerated restricted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See State v. Weissinger, 2014 WI App 73, ¶¶ 1-3, 355 Wis. 2d 546, 851 N.W. 780, review granted, No. 2013AP218-CR (Oct. 15, 2014) (discovered TCH in Weissinger's blood while investigating a crash in which Weissinger struck and severely injured a motorcyclist); State v. Luedtke, 2014 WI App 79, ¶¶ 2-4, 355 Wis. 2d 436, 851 N.W.2d 837 review granted, No. 2013AP1737-CR (Oct. 15, 2014) (discovered a cocktail of drugs in Luedtke's blood while investigating a two-car accident); State v. Mertes, 2008 WI App 179, ¶¶ 2-3, 315 Wis. 2d 756, 762 N.W.2d 813 (driver and passenger were "passed out" or asleep inside of the vehicle parked at the gas pumps of a Speedway station and blood tests revealed restricted controlled substances); State v. Hoff, No. 2011AP2096-CR, slip op. ¶¶ 3-4 (Ct. App. June 26, 2012) (R-Ap. 110-11) (Hoff was found asleep inside his vehicle at a gas station, when he awoke it became apparent that he was disoriented); State v. Przybylski, No. 2011AP1-CR, slip op. ¶ 2 (Ct. App. June 1, 2011) (R-Ap. 120) (Przybylski was stopped after the officer observed erratic driving and it was readily apparent that Przybylski was "extremely impaired"). But see, Smet, 288 Wis. 2d 525, ¶ 2 (The limited facts presented do not include the facts that lead to probable cause to arrest on suspicion of driving while intoxicated. Smet's blood test revealed the presence of THC.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Full report available at: http://www.nhtsa.gov/people/injury/research/job185drugs/index.htm

controlled substances, including a variety of synthetic opiates, derived from opium, hallucinogenic substances, substances depressants, and stimulants. See Wis. Stat. § 961.14. Many of these substances emit no odor and contain no overt signs of ingestion. For all of these reasons, identifying drivers under the influence of restricted controlled substances can be difficult, and the Legislature recognized this when it adopted the any detectable amount standard in Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am). Don Dyke, Operating Vehicle or Going Armed with a Detectable Amount of a Restricted Controlled Substance (R-Ap. 124). The threshold is zero and Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am) requires no signs of impairment or erratic driving. Smet, 288 Wis. 2d 525, ¶¶ 12-17. As a result, what an officer must know or observe in order to form a reasonable suspicion that someone may be violating Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am) must be relatively low. In order to enforce Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), officers need to be able to investigate suspected drugged driving when there are few, or no obvious signs of drug use.

For example, a non-binge user of cocaine may exhibit effects of the drug for only 15-30 minutes after he or she snorted the cocaine. Drugs and Human Performance Fact Sheets, at 21 (R-Ap. 134). When encountering a driver under the effects of cocaine, an officer may be able to observe the following signs of cocaine use: dilated pupils, reaction light, talkativeness, slow to irritability, argumentativeness, nervousness, body tremors, redness to the nasal area, and possibly a runny nose. Id. at 23 (R-Ap. 136).14 The signs of cocaine use are not overt and the driver could easily be dismissed as a nervous, irritable driver suffering from a common cold. Similarly, the signs of heroin use are not overt. An officer may be able to observe the following signs of heroin use: constricted pupils, little or no reaction to light, injection marks if exposed, droopy eyelids, drowsiness, and low, raspy, slow speech. Id. at 77 (R-Ap. 142). If the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The other effects of cocaine - elevated pulse rate, elevated blood pressure, elevated body temperature, excessive activity, increased alertness, and anxiety – are not effects that an officer could reasonably observe in the normal course of contact with a driver during a routine traffic stop.

driver did not have exposed track marks, he or she could easily be dismissed as someone who was just overly tired.

Like these examples, Deputy Smith was faced with non-overt signs of drug use. He observed constricted pupils, abnormal nervousness, and upper body tremors (21:2-4) (Pet-Ap. 8-10). Deputy Smith, however, did not dismiss these signs. Rather his experience led him to believe that Hogan may have taken illicit drugs (21:3) (Pet-Ap. 9). As addressed in the following sections, this Court should conclude that under the totality of the circumstances, there were sufficient facts to form a reasonable suspicion of drugged driving. Concluding otherwise will hinder Wisconsin's efforts to combat the immense danger posed by drugged drivers, because it will result in officers foregoing investigations when the indicators of drug use are not unique or overt.

## A. A lawful traffic stop may be extended to investigate other criminal activity if there is reasonable suspicion to do so.

Hogan concedes that the initial stop of his vehicle was valid because Deputy Smith observed Hogan driving without a seatbelt (Pet'r's Br. at 8). The observed violation of Wis. Stat. § 347.48(2m) was undoubtedly sufficient to stop Hogan's vehicle. *See Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 817-18 (1996) ("'[t]he foremost method of enforcing traffic and vehicle safety regulations . . . is acting upon observed violations," which afford the 'quantum of individualized suspicion' necessary to ensure that police discretion is sufficiently constrained") (quoting *Delaware v. Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 654-55, 659 (1979)).

When an officer is faced with "additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense [] separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended and a new investigation begun." State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394 (quoting State v. Betow, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999)). "The validity of the extension is tested

in the same manner, and under the same criteria, as the initial stop." *Id.* The investigatory detention must be based upon a reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (citing *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)). In evaluating whether an extension of a stop is supported by reasonable suspicion, the court considers whether "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant" the extension. *See Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968).

The court determines reasonableness based on the totality of the circumstances. *Post*, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 13. This Court does not restrict its reasonableness analysis to the factors the officer testified to having subjectively weighed in his decision to act. *State v. McGill*, 2000 WI 38, ¶ 24, 234 Wis. 2d 560, 609 N.W.2d 795. In determining whether the officer acted properly, this Court looks to any fact in the record that was known to the officer at the time he acted and that is supported by his testimony. Id.

The question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience. *Post*, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 13. The officer need not observe any unlawful behavior. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56-57, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). Rather, "[t]he law allows a police officer to [investigate] based on observations of lawful conduct so long as the reasonable inferences drawn from the lawful conduct are that criminal activity is afoot." *Id.* at 57. An officer may extend a stop with a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct, even if other innocent inferences can be drawn. *Id.* at 60.

# B. The facts known to Deputy Smith satisfy the objective standard for reasonable suspicion of drugged driving.

Deputy Smith encountered Hogan on a sunny day in May (21:2, 11) (Pet-Ap. 8, 17). As noted above, he stopped Hogan's vehicle

when he observed that Hogan and Hogan's passenger were not wearing seatbelts (21:2) (Pet-Ap. 8).<sup>15</sup> When Deputy Smith spoke with Hogan, Hogan was immediately informed that he was stopped for a seatbelt violation (21:3; 8:DVD at 01:00-30) (Pet-Ap. 9). Deputy Smith then noticed that Hogan was nervous and had constricted pupils (21:2-3) (Pet-Ap. 8-9). In fact, Hogan appeared very nervous, and his upper body was shaking (21:3-4) (Pet-Ap. 9-10). Based on those observations, Deputy Smith began to suspect that Hogan had used drugs (*id.*).

Deputy Smith called for backup for officer safety reasons because he was unfamiliar with Hogan and knew that an officer would be nearby (21:4) (Pet-Ap. 10). After radioing for backup, Deputy Smith began the process of issuing Hogan a citation for the seatbelt violation (*id.*). Before the citation was complete, the backup officer arrived (8:DVD at 05:00-30). When the backup officer arrived, he informed Deputy Smith that the department had received tips that Hogan was a "shake and bake methamphetamine cooker" and that Hogan had "961 issues" (21:4; 8:DVD at 05:30-06:30) (Pet-Ap. 10).

Deputy Smith then decided to see if a K9 unit was available, and continued to work on the citations (8:DVD at 06:30-10:30). With no response from the K9 unit, Deputy Smith decided to ask Hogan to perform field sobriety tests (8:DVD 10:30-11:00). When both citations were complete, Deputy Smith re-approached Hogan's vehicle (21:4) (Pet-Ap. 10). When both citations were complete, Deputy Smith re-approached Hogan's vehicle (21:4) (Pet-Ap. 10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The passenger actually was wearing her seatbelt, but improperly (21:3) (Pet-Ap. 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The passenger was also being issued a citation for improperly wearing her seatbelt (8:DVD at 07:00-30).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Ultimately the K9 unit is not available (8:DVD at 11:00-30).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Completing the two citations took approximately eleven minutes. Contrary to the implication in Hogan's brief, the officers were not sitting in the squad discussing if they could get Hogan's consent to search the vehicle and prolonging the stop (Pet'r's Br. at 3). While the backup officer

Deputy Smith asked Hogan to exit the vehicle, returned all of Hogan's documentation, and explained the citation (8:DVD at 14:30-15:30). Deputy Smith then said, "question for you" and explained that constricted pupils and nervousness are sometimes indicators of impaired driving (8:DVD at 15:00-16:00). Hogan admitted that he used Adderall, but denied being nervous (8:DVD at 15:30-16:00).

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